FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 10/5/2023 1:48 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

102448-7

Consolidated No: 39457-3-III

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

## BRYCE BITTERMAN, Petitioner

v.

TED FUKUZAWA, Respondent and TRACY PIEPEL, Respondent

# **Petition for Review**

Kenneth J. Miller, WSBA #46666 Andrew J. Chase, WSBA #47529 Attorneys for Petitioner

PO Box 978 Okanogan, WA 98840 509-861-0815 (P) 509-557-6280 (F) Ken@MillerChaseLaw.com Andy@MillerChaseLaw.com

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

COMES NOW Bryce Bitterman, Petitioner, and submits this Motion for Discretionary Review of the decision designated herein.

#### **B.** COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The underlying decision from the Court of Appeals, Division III, is the September 8, 2022 Order Denying Motion to Modify Commissioner's Ruling and Related Motions, a copy of which is attached hereto as Appendix A, pg. 1-2. The related Decision of the Commissioner is attached hereto as Appendix A, pg. 3-4.

## C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Whether the Court of Appeals erred in denying Mr.
   Bitterman's Motion to Modify the Commissioner's ruling dismissing this case:
  - a. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in making a factual determination upon a disputed issue not fully developed in the trial

court, in conflict with *Doyle v. Lee*, 166 Wn.App. 397, 272 P.3d 256 (2012) and *King County Emp. Ass'n. v. State Emp. Retirement Bd.*, 54 Wn.2d 1, 336 P.2d 387 (1959); or *Garcia v. Henley*, 190 Wn.2d 539, 415 P.3d 241 (2018).

- b. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in dismissing Mr. Bitterman's appeal on the basis that he affirmatively disobeyed the appealed order, in conflict with *Jones v. Jones*, 75 Wn. 50, 134 P. 528 (1913).
- 2. Whether the issues presented herein invoke a significant question of Constitutional law; and
- 3. Whether the issues presented herein invoke a substantial public interest.

#### **D.** STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves K.B., the son of Bryce Bitterman and his late separated partner, Taylor Fukuzawa (d. 1/13/2022). *CP* 

at 6. After her death, her parents, Ted Fukuzawa and Tracey Piepel, hired an attorney to contact Mr. Bitterman concerning visitation with their grandson. *See CP* at 40-41. For the same reason articulated in their own Appellate Court filings, we refer to Mr. Fukuzawa and Ms. Piepel collectively as the "Grandparents," intending no disrespect to them or the non-party paternal grandparents.

When the Grandparents and Mr. Bitterman could not reach agreement, they each filed Nonparental Visitation Petitions in Douglas County Superior Court on September 6, 2022, which were consolidated for further proceedings. *See e.g. CP* at 3 (Fukuzawa Petition).

Mr. Bitterman accepted service through counsel; while the pleading is undated, it was filed on September 22, 2022. *CP* at 191. Mr. Bitterman responded on September 27, 2022, disputing the grandparents' factual assertions and asking the Court to deny the Petitions for visits. *CP* at 229-35. He did not challenge the Court's (or Washington's) jurisdiction. *Id*.

On September 30, 2022, without holding a hearing, the trial Court issued a Memorandum Order stating in relevant part: "I have reviewed all of the parties' various filings and don't believe it is necessary to have oral argument as to whether the Petitioners have met the threshold requirements as set forth in RCW 26.11." *CP* at 266-67.

A hearing was then scheduled for November 1, 2022, by Zoom. *See RP* at 7:5-9. As the Court noted, counsel was requesting a continuance of the hearing due to the slew of declarations filed by both Parties on October 31, 2022 and some question concerning whether the Court would take live testimony. *See CP* at 268-335; *RP* at 7:20-8:2. At this hearing, the Court also itself had not had time to review the October 31 filings. *RP* at 10:24-11:4, 13-15.

But the Court continued, stating: "...it strikes me that we should be talking about a temporary order of some kind if we're going to talk about a continuance." *RP* at 12:6-8. Counsel for the Grandparents, without mentioning RCW 26.11.030(9), requested

a structured weekend visitation plan. *RP* at 13:2-8. Mr. Collier responded that he was "not sure that the statute provides a temporary order..." *RP* at 13:22-23. Mr. Collier did not agree to any visitation at that time. *RP* at 14:1-3.

After a discussion of procedures and additional filings, the Court determined: "I am going to put a temporary order in place." *RP* at 21:21-22. The date for the continued hearing was set for the next week, on November 9, 2022. *RP* at 22:13-17. The Court then issued an oral temporary order that "will at least get us to the... next hearing." *RP* at 25:15-19. After a brief colloquy, the Court ordered that visitation would be "the standard Friday at 5:00 to Sunday at 5:00 with the grandparents this weekend." *RP* at 26:15-16.

After the Court made this oral order, Mr. Collier again asked the Court for "a finding of the authority to enter that temporary order... What basis the Court is using to enter a temporary order in this specific statute." *RP* at 29:12-13, 18-19. The Court responded that RCW 26.11.040(4) provided the authority for the order and found that the temporary visitation was in the best interests of K.D.B. *RP* at 29:23-30:17.

The Court confirmed twice on the record that Mr. Bitterman was not present at this hearing. *RP* at 7:13-15, 27:24. No written order was entered on November 1, 2022. *See CP*. However, there is no dispute that Mr. Bitterman obeyed the Court's oral order. *Respondents' [Grandparents'] Motion to Dismiss Appeal* at 9.

On November 8, 2022, Mr. Bitterman left the State of Washington. His attorney mistakenly informed counsel for the grandparents that he left to look for new job opportunities at that time. *CP* at 778. Mr. Bitterman *already* had a job, which he accepted in the first week of September of 2022. *Id.* There is limited information on this point in the record before the Court of Appeals, though additional information has been developed on this point at the trial Court level.

The Grandparents have not produced any evidence that Mr. Bitterman left the State of Washington after the Court's Order on November 9, 2022. *See CP*. Mr. Bitterman's December 15, 2022 declaration provides the competent evidence upon this issue. *See CP* at 777-84.

On November 9, 2022, the Court held a hearing upon the various affidavits filed by the parties, hearing oral argument from the parties' respective attorneys. See RP at 31-76 (ruling follows). Mr. Bitterman was not present at this hearing either. RP at 32:1-2. The Court recited the factors in RCW 26.11.040(4) and ordered a visitation schedule consisting of the second weekend of each month from Friday at 5 PM to Sunday at 5 PM, including attached three-day weekends, and the fourth Wednesday of the month from School until 6 PM; two days following Christmas; two non-consecutive week-long summer periods. RP at 89-96. The Court did not issue a written order on November 9, as there were details for which the Court would "just depend on the lawyers to talk" to resolve. RP at 97:9-10.

The Grandparents knew that Mr. Bitterman left the state shortly after the hearing on November 9, 2022. *See Respondents* ' *Motion to Dismiss Appeal* at 10. When the visitation after the November 9, 2022 hearing did not occur, the Grandparents set a presentation hearing on the oral order and filed a Motion to Enforce the same. These filings do not appear in the Clerk's Papers; a hearing was set for December 5, 2023. *See RP* at 103-04 (mentioning filings); *CP* at 669-70 (Order on Motion to Enforce).

At the end of November, Mr. Bitterman changed counsel. *RP* at 98:10. On December 1, 2022, the Grandparents filed an objection to Relocation and a Motion for a Temporary Order Preventing Move with Children. *CP* at 374-384. On December 5, 2022, Mr. Bitterman's new attorney filed objections to the proposed final orders and requested to continue the hearing. *CP* at 385-88.

The Court stated: "Now I'm hearing that post this Court's orders, Mr. Bitterman has apparently decided to relocate with the child, Washington being the home state with jurisdiction over the child." *RP* at 99:17-20. Ms. Mellergaard responded that this was

not her understanding. RP at 99:25-100:3. Later in the hearing,

the trial Court was openly derisive and dismissive of this issue:

You mentioned three more weeks. I'm struggling with what is expected, what's this Court expected to do when I've made that finding? It makes it a bit awkward I think to just -- if all Mr. Bitterman has to do is change lawyers and all of a sudden yet another monkey wrench is thrown, and oh, jeez, he's got a home in New Mexico, and he's had it for some time. I don't see how that affects anything to do with this case, by the way. It has not been demonstrated to me that that makes any difference or that it affects any order that the Court has made.

So change lawyers all you want, Mr. Bitterman. I'm going to talk about what we're going to do about visitation.

*RP* at 102:11-22. Counsel for the Grandparents raised the issue that visitation in November had not occurred as per the November 9, 2023 oral ruling. *RP* at 103. The trial Court then signed the Grandparents' proposed Final Orders. *CP* at 81, 389 (each case).

However, at the time of the entry of these Orders, the trial Court knew that Mr. Bitterman was not in the State of Washington – recognizing this, the Court inquired about Zoom visitation. RP at 105:16-18. Nevertheless, the December 5<sup>th</sup> Order was for in-person visitation with exchanges in East Wenatchee. CP at 394-95.

Thereafter, Mr. Bitterman moved for reconsideration. *CP* at 402-05. His Motion sought relief from the December 5, 2022 Final Order; more specifically, he sought a full evidentiary hearing on the petitions and objected to the trial Court's denial of attorneys' fees. *Id.* Before the motion for reconsideration was adjudicated, Mr. Bitterman appealed the December 5, 2022 rulings to the Court of Appeals, Division III. *CP* at 420-21.

The Notice of Appeal also includes "all rulings and orders which were entered in this case prior to the entry of the above orders." *CP* at 420. Mr. Bitterman contends that this would sweep in for review the threshold decision on September 30, 2022 under RAP 2.4(b), as well as the pending Motion for Reconsideration, under RAP 2.4(f)(3). Mr. Bitterman clarified as to the threshold decision by Amended Notice of Appeal filed January 25, 2023. *CP* at 91-105. As successive Contempt proceedings related to the appealed order unfolded in the trial Court, Mr. Bitterman designated Orders thereon for review as well by Supplemental Notice of Appeal filed March 3, 2023. *CP* at 543.

In the Court of Appeals, the Grandparents moved to Dismiss the Appeal, arguing that Mr. Bitterman had fled the jurisdiction of the Court. *See Motion to Dismiss Appeal* at 10, 19 *et seq*. Mr. Bitterman's Answer thereto raised similar issues to his argument herein. *See Answer to Motion to Dismiss* at 15-21.

The Court of Appeals Commissioner ruled that Mr. Bitterman had disobeyed and made execution of the trial Court's orders impossible by way of "affirmative act done after the superior [court] rendered its decision..." *Appx. A* at 3.

After the Commissioner's decision, Mr. Bitterman brought a timely Motion to Modify, which was denied by the September 8, 2023 Order that is the subject of this Petition for Review. *Appx. A* at 1-2

# E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Mr. Bitterman argues that the issues before this Court can be succinctly distilled. The Court of Appeals erred by making a factual determination upon a disputed issue not fully developed in the trial court – namely, whether Mr. Bitterman left the State before or after the appealed order. Upon the limited competent evidence in the record (Mr. Bitterman's declaration rather than Mr. Collier's statements), the conclusion that he left the State prior to the appealed order is plainly unsupported.

The Court of Appeals declined to hear his case on the merits, ruling that he disobeyed and frustrated the appealed orders by way of affirmative act done after the trial Court issued the same. Mr. Bitterman argues that the record shows (and can be further supplemented) he left the State before the appealed order; that he did so lawfully; and that the trial Court could and should have made a different Final Order. In other words, it was not Mr. Bitterman leaving the State that made execution impossible because his departure predates the order. More importantly, his departure long predates both the Court's *written* order *and* his own notice of *any* order from November 9, 2023. *CP* at 778.

# 1. The Court of Appeals Ruling Conflicts with This Court's Precedent

Whether Mr. Bitterman left the State before or after the Court's November 9, 2022 oral ruling was not developed fully in the trial court below. Additional evidence was later developed in the trial Court's record, but the only evidence on this point before the Court of Appeals was Mr. Bitterman's declaration.

In *Garcia v. Henley*, 190 Wn.2d 539, 415 P.3d 241 (2018), this Court stated that it "...generally cannot make findings of fact, and will not endeavor to do so based on an incomplete record..." *Id.* at 544. This is because a trial court's function is to inform an appellate court what material questions were decided, and in what manner. *Id.* Similarly, in *Doyle v. Lee*, 166 Wn.App. 397, 272 P.3d 256 (2012), the Court of Appeals stated that "...in its ordinary role as a reviewing court, an appellate court does not make findings of fact." *Id.* at 406 (citing *King County Emp. Ass'n v. State Emp. Retirement Bd.*, 54 Wn.2d 1, 5, 336 P.2d 387 (1959) (appellate court is not a trier of facts)).

Whether Mr. Bitterman left the state before or after November 9, 2022 was never properly developed in the trial Court. While the Court mentioned the issue at the December 5, 2022 hearing, Mr. Bitterman subsequently clarified with his Declaration. *RP* at 99:17-20; *CP* at 778. This did not become an issue until the Grandparents moved to dismiss the appeal, arguing that Mr. Bitterman had fled the jurisdiction. The trial Court did not receive or develop evidence on this point other than Mr. Bitterman's declaration.

The Court of Appeals Commissioner's ruling then settled this fact dispute against Mr. Bitterman, and on that basis, ordered his compliance with the appealed order upon consequence of dismissal. From the record before the Court of Appeals, the only substantially supported conclusion is that Mr. Bitterman left the State *before* the Court's November 9, 2022 oral ruling, and well before the December 5, 2022 Final Order.

# 2. Mr. Bitterman did not Leave Washington State in Violation of a Court Order

Several facts in this case are of critical importance. First, it is undisputed that (a) the Court's November 1, 2022 oral Order was temporary in nature – until November 9, 2022; and (b) Mr. Bitterman complied with this Order.

Second, it is undisputed that Mr. Bitterman was under no order to refrain from leaving the State of Washington with K.D.B. This is not a family law case between parents where the Court issues an "Auto-TRO<sup>1</sup>" or a Temporary Family Law Order that contains such a provision. Such orders are, instead, expressly forbidden. RCW 26.11.030(9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, e.g., Okanogan County Local Form A-3; or Chelan County Ex. D to LSPR 94.04. In short, a Court Order which automatically issues upon the filing of any family law case involving custody of minor children, and which forbids the parties from changing the residence of the children until further Order or upon written agreement.

Third, the Court made an important finding on November 1, 2022 – that Mr. Bitterman is a fit parent. *RP* at 30:18-22. Or, rather, that the Court had no information that he was not a fit parent. *Id.* In other words, the presumption under RCW 26.11.040(2) was fully intact. Hand in hand with this, there is no dispute that, even if the November 1, 2022 oral temporary order constitutes a "Court Order" within the meaning of the Child Relocation Act, the Grandparents were not K.D.B.'s primary caregivers for a substantial period in the thirty-six months preceding November of 2022. RCW 26.09.540; *see also* RCW 26.09.410(1).

Mr. Bitterman *welcomes* an inspection of the Report of Proceedings upon this issue, at 136-197 thereof. In a hearing where Mr. Bitterman and his attorney were inexplicably absent, the trial Court questioned the Petitioners upon this specific issue, feeling that it "require[d] some additional factual development." *RP* at 145:14-15. The Grandparents argued they were the primary caregivers for 29, not 36 months. *RP* at 145:19-21. The Court wanted to "really drill[] down on this 36-month issue" and took testimony from Ms. Piepel. RP at 155:13-18. The testimony that developed revealed that the care provided was for both Ms. Fukuzawa and K.D.B., and that the 29-month period "wasn't exactly consecutive." RP at 156:13-20; 157:9-15. After the Court's own lengthy sua sponte examination of the witness and additional questioning from the Grandparents' counsel, the Court "[came] up with in the preceding 36 months prior to the intended relocation... 23 months." RP at 175:2-4. Counsel for the Grandparents confirmed: "...we're just running the months, too, and 23 months seems accurate." RP at 175:8-9. Even after adding in the time period from "post-April 2022" (i.e. no more than 9 months at the December 19, 2022 hearing), the absolute maximum time at issue would be 32 months. See RP at 178:9-12. The Court then found "no question... that it's a substantial period of time if we're talking 23 out of 36 months.." RP at 178:16-18. Despite acknowledging moments before that the Grandparents met less than two thirds of the required time under

the statute, the Court then found that the Grandparents were entitled to object to relocation under RCW 26.09.540. *RP* at 179:11-12. The Grandparents' Objection was also later Dismissed by agreement for want of proper service of the Summons and Objection. *CP* at 686-87 (meaning no personal jurisdiction over Mr. Bitterman with respect to the Objection). Whether Mr. Bitterman left before or after the Court's order is only material to the *notice* requirement of the CRA; but even if they were entitled to notice, the Grandparents were not entitled to object.

In other words, no provision of law (e.g. RCW 26.09.480(2)) or court order prevented a fit parent from moving out of the State of Washington with his child. Without a *primary caregiver* relationship arising after final orders, RCW 26.11.060, not the 11-factor test in the CRA, would control.

With all due respect to the Court of Appeals Commissioner, the ruling that Mr. Bitterman "relocated with the child to New Mexico **after the Court granted Respondents**'

18

**Petitions** for in-person visitation" is incorrect. *Appx. A* at 3 (emphasis added). Mr. Bitterman relocated with K.D.B. to New Mexico **before** the Court made its decision. Mr. Bitterman supplied the trial Court with this information in his December 15, 2022 declaration supporting his Motion for Reconsideration:

I had no knowledge of any further visitation schedule that the court ordered on November 9, 2022 until will after the fact. No orders were provided to me and I had already relocated before that hearing. I was not informed of the November 1, 2022 hearing until after the fact but did comply with the court's ruling regarding the visitation ordered that day. I was already preparing to move and did so before the November 9, 2022 hearing; a hearing I did not know was scheduled until after I moved. I was never provided any written order of the visits that were to take place in mid-November until after the hearing on December 5, 2022. I was never told that I could not move, a plan that I had made long before these orders were entered.

[...]

I was offered a job back in early August and I accepted the job the first week of September. I also worked down here previously at the end of 2019 start of 2020... Mr. Collier states that he informed Ms. Bratton that I left to look for new job opportunities on November 8<sup>th</sup>. This is false I already had a job.

*CP* at 778.

# 3. This Case is Different from Pike and Similar Cases

The Court of Appeals Commissioners' Ruling relies on the case of *Pike v. Pike*, 24 Wn.2d 735, 167 P.2d 401 (1946). *See Appx. A* at 3. In *Pike*, the trial court issued an interlocutory divorce decree awarding custody of the children to the Respondent father. *Id.* at 737. The Mother appealed; filed an appeal bond three days later; and, "[i]t was **subsequent to that date** that appellant removed the children from their home and placed them at a place unknown to either respondent or [appellant's] attorney." *Id.* (emphasis added).

The Grandparents cited to *State ex rel Hunter v. Roland*, 106 Wn. 413, 180 P. 125 (1919) as example below. In *Hunter*, the plaintiff (relator Hunter) filed suit seeking divorce and custody of the parties' minor child. *Id.* at 413. The trial court entered an order pending trial directing Hunter to keep the child within the court's jurisdiction; she failed to comply, and moved the Court for voluntary dismissal of the divorce petition. *Id*.

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