FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/6/2023 4:18 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

No. 1024487

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re visits with K.D.B.,

TED D. FUKUZAWA, TRACY M. PIEPEL, and DAVID J. PIEPEL,

Respondents,

v.

BRYCE BITTERMAN,

Petitioner.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

One Union Square 600 University St., Ste. 2700 Seattle, WA 98101-3143 (206) 467-1816 McNAUL EBEL NAWROT & HELGREN PLLC

Theresa M. DeMonte, WSBA No. 43994 Ai-Li Chiong-Martinson, WSBA No. 53359

Attorneys for Respondents

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

IV. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Bitterman fails to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b). Dismissal of his appeal was within the Court of Appeals' sound discretion and heavily favored by the law and equities. This Court should deny review.

A. The Dismissal of Bitterman's Appeal Does Not Conflict with Washington Cases

Bitterman does not dispute that he persists in contempt; that he refuses to comply with the trial court's orders that he never sought to supersede; or that he is evading enforcement by having secreted himself and K.B. outside Washington and concealing their location, in violation of court orders. Yet he continues his efforts to invoke appellate jurisdiction for the purpose of appealing the trial court's visitation orders whose enforcement he has deliberately obstructed. Notably absent

from his petition is any indication he will ever comply with court orders, including if they were to be affirmed on appeal.³

This equity does not tolerate. Under the disentitlement doctrine, Bitterman cannot pursue an appeal of an order that he continues to disobey and obstruct. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that dismissal was warranted under the unique circumstances here.

1. One who affirmatively evades enforcement of trial court orders is disentitled from appealing.

An appellate court has the inherent power to dismiss the appeal of parties who obstruct enforcement during the pendency of their appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *State v. Johnson*, 105 Wn.2d 92, 97, 711 P.2d 1017 (1986) ("[I]f the appealing defendant flees the jurisdiction of the court pending an appeal, the defendant

³ Following dismissal, Bitterman has been thrice found in contempt. App. 546–569. He was ordered to report to jail in August, App. 550. 556, but never appeared. As his location is unknown, he cannot be arrested on a bench warrant.

waives the right to prosecute the appeal."); *City of Seattle v. Klein*, 161 Wn.2d 554, 559, 565, 166 P.3d 1149 (2007)

("Washington courts have dismissed appeals where the criminal appellant fled the jurisdiction, escaped from jail, or violated the conditions of release pending appeal."). The doctrine's underlying rationale is explained in *Johnson*:

If legal questions brought by a litigant are to remain [in an appeals court], the litigant must stay with them. When he withdraws himself from the power of the Court to enforce its judgment, he also withdraws the questions which he had submitted to the Court's adjudication.

105 Wn.2d at 97 (citation omitted).

The doctrine encourages enforcement of court orders; discourages the unfair and asymmetrical use of judicial resources only when the court rules in the fugitive's favor; avoids prejudice to the non-fugitive party; discourages flights from justice; and "promotes the efficient, dignified operation of the courts." *See Degen v. United States*, 517 U.S. 820, 824–25,

116 S. Ct. 1777, 135 L. Ed. 2d 102 (1996) (internal quotation marks and citation omitted). As one court explained:

The fugitive disentitlement doctrine is essentially the legal equivalent of the aphorism that "you can't have your cake and eat it too." As a relative to the "clean hands doctrine," the fugitive disentitlement doctrine holds that a person is not entitled to seek the court's assistance in the same cause from which he or she is a fugitive.

Peppin v. Lewis, 752 N.Y.S.2d 807, 811, 2002 N.Y. Slip op. 22733 (2002) (citations omitted) (barring mother who absconded with child from seeking affirmative relief). The Ninth Circuit deployed similar reasoning in declining to review a deportation order when the petitioner failed to report his change of address to his attorney:

Because no one has any clue where [the petitioner] is, his petition has the same "heads I win, tails you'll never find me" quality that justifies disentitlement in other contexts. Those who invoke our appellate jurisdiction must take the bitter with the sweet: They cannot ask us to overturn adverse judgments while insulating themselves from the consequences of an unfavorable result.

Antonio-Martinez v. I.N.S., 317 F.3d 1089, 1093 (9th Cir. 2003).

Although disentitlement is more common in direct criminal appeals, Washington courts have applied the doctrine where the fugitive was a civil litigant who continued to ignore and disobey trial court orders. And this Court has dismissed appeals of child custody orders where appellants were in contempt of the orders they sought to reverse on appeal. *See*, *e.g.*, *Pike v. Pike*, 24 Wn.2d 735, 740–43, 167 P.2d 401 (1946); *Helard v. Helard*, 22 Wn.2d 950, 950, 155 P.2d 499 (1945) (dismissing mother's appeal of a custody order where she absconded with the parties' children and failed to return the children to Kitsap County after being warned her appeal would be dismissed).

Similarly to *Pike* and *Helard*, courts across the country have (i) dismissed appeals brought by a parent secreting a child or (ii) ordered appeals dismissed for failure to comply with a custody order within a specified time period. *See*, *e.g.*, *Knoob*

v. Knoob, 192 Cal. 95, 97, 218 P. 568 (1923); Michael v.
Michael, 253 N.E.2d 261, 262 (Ind. 1969); Henderson v.
Henderson, 329 Mass. 257, 107 N.E.2d 773, 773 (1952); D.C.
v. D.C., 988 So.2d 359, 361 (Miss. 2008); Weaver v. Parks, 947
So.2d 1009, 1012–14 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006); Johnson v.
Johnson, 812 N.W.2d 455, 459–60 (N.D. 2012); In re Morrell,
174 Ohio St. 427, 189 N.E.2d 873, 874 (1963).

2. The Court of Appeals' ruling does not rest on factual error or conflict with precedent.

Bitterman rests much of his petition on an immaterial factual dispute over the date he left Washington. He claims the Commissioner "ma[de] a factual determination" regarding the precise date he left Washington, and that her ruling therefore conflicts with precedent under RAP 13.4(b)(1)–(2). Pet. 12. Bitterman claims that if he left on November 8th—the day before the trial court orally ordered visitation on November 9th—his appeal cannot be dismissed.

Bitterman's argument is deeply flawed. While it is true that the precise date Bitterman left Washington is disputed,⁴ and the precise date he settled elsewhere (he claims New Mexico) is not reflected in the record, the Commissioner did not engage in fact-finding. Regardless, her ruling is not clear error, and these facts are in any event immaterial.

First, Commissioner Landrus did not engage in factfinding as Bitterman contends. This is clear from her order, which nowhere suggests she made "findings." App. 3. Thus, this case does not conflict with the two cases Bitterman cites for

⁴ What is undisputed is that when the trial court continued the November 1st hearing to November 9th, a visit that weekend was ordered. App. 255. That visit occurred on November 4th–6th, App. 213–16, and Bitterman signed a declaration in Wenatchee on November 7th, CP 660; *see* App. 158, showing he was in the region as of then. None of Bitterman's voluminous filings before the November 9th hearing mention relocation; his attorney did not state at that hearing that he had left; and the grandparents first learned he had left after that hearing, when his attorneys told theirs he had left to look for jobs on November 8th. RP 31–97; App. 283–84.

the proposition that appellate courts do not generally engage in fact-finding: *Garcia v. Henley*, 190 Wn.2d 539, 415 P.3d 241 (2018), and *Doyle v. Lee*, 166 Wn. App. 397, 272 P.3d 256 (2012). Regardless, he cites no authority for the proposition that an appellate court cannot find facts relating to motions before it, such as for sanctions, fees, or injunctions.

Second, Bitterman also misrepresents the

Commissioner's ruling. He claims the Commissioner
erroneously indicated he left the state after the November 9th
ruling. Pet. 12, 13. In fact, the Commissioner stated only that
Bitterman "relocated with the child to New Mexico after the
court granted Respondents' petitions for in-person visitation[.]"
App. 3. Bitterman's own testimony supports this ruling.

Following the Commissioner's ruling, Bitterman filed a
declaration in the trial court purporting to show he left
Washington on November 8th, staying in Baker City, Oregon,
on November 8th–9th, and in Price, Utah, on November 9th–10th,
App. 539–45. This Court can judicially notice this admission.

ER 201. According to Bitterman's own declaration, he was *not* yet in New Mexico on November 10th when he left his hotel in Price, Utah. App. 539. Thus, even crediting Bitterman's misguided claim that the Commissioner made a "finding," such "finding" is not clear error when Bitterman's own declaration showed he did not "relocate to" New Mexico until after the November 9th hearing, which is fully consistent with Bitterman's testimony.

It is *also* clear that Bitterman's complaint that the trial court should have taken evidence on this issue, Pet. 14, 28, is absurd: Bitterman has repeatedly been held in contempt for refusing to disclose his location or employer so visitation could be enforced. App. 154, 258, 562, 565. Thus, directing the trial court to take evidence under RAP 9.11 regarding his whereabouts and timing would be futile.

Most importantly, whether Bitterman left before or after November 9th is immaterial. Bitterman's argument that "it was not [him] leaving the State that made execution impossible

because his departure predates the order," Pet. 12–13, misses the mark. The trial court did not order Bitterman to remain in Washington, so merely leaving the state violated no order and did not, of itself, render execution impossible.⁵

Instead, what rendered execution of the judgment impossible was Bitterman's secreting himself and K.B., failing to comply with court orders, and refusing to disclose his location when ordered to. Those actions *did* postdate the Court's November 9th order. It is *these* affirmative actions to obstruct enforcement of visitation orders that warrant disentitlement. It was not Bitterman's move, but rather his persistence in contempt and obstructing enforcement of valid court orders, even after having been warned disentitlement would follow, that justifies dismissal.

⁵ Bitterman rails against the grandparents' objection to his relocation. Pet. 16–18. Because the grandparents dismissed their relocation petition before it was decided, the issue is moot, as are the cited pages from the December 19th hearing.

3. Dismissal was warranted because Bitterman persists in contempt and obstructs enforcement.

Given the purported timing of his move, Bitterman insists that his case more closely resembles the California case of *Vosburg v. Vosburg*, 131 Cal. 628, 63 P. 1009 (1901), than *Pike*, 24 Wn.2d 735. But in *Vosburg*, the trial court's visitation order *could* be enforced because the father's location in New York appears to have been known—indeed, the mother initiated a habeas corpus proceeding against him there, but the New York court awarded custody to the father. 131 Cal. at 629. Therefore, judicial enforcement was not rendered impossible in *Vosburg*, though it has been here.

Bitterman claims that in "cases justifying dismissal," the appellant must "affirmatively violate[] the court's order with knowledge of the same, after the order was made." Pet. 22 (emphasis in original). But that is precisely what Bitterman has done—he refuses to comply with visitation and conceals his

whereabouts to frustrate enforcement, in contempt of orders to disclose his location.

As in *Pike*, Bitterman's refusal to disclose his and K.B.'s residence renders enforcement impossible. Were his location known, visitation could be enforced in New Mexico or elsewhere under the Uniform Child Custody Jurisdiction and Enforcement Act—a point Bitterman has not contested. *See also* N.M. Stat. Ann. § 40-10A-101–403; *Roberts v. Staples*, 442 P.2d 788, 790 (N.M. 1968) (habeas corpus available when custody issues involved). But here, the trial court's orders cannot be enforced because Bitterman refuses to disclose his location, even to his own attorney, when ordered to do so. RP 214, 234.

Finally, Bitterman's reliance on *State ex rel. Hunter v.*Ronald, 106 Wn. 413, 180 P. 125 (1919), is also misplaced.

Even if, as Bitterman contends, *Hunter* stands for the proposition that a court may decline to hear a party who took "affirmative action" after a decision, Pet. 21, here it is

uncontested that Bitterman's refusal to comply with visitation or to disclose his new location so visitation could be enforced all happened *after* the visitation orders were entered.

Under these circumstances, it would be inequitable to allow Bitterman to use the resources of the courts only if the outcome is of benefit to him while he refuses to disclose his location so that the trial court's rulings can be enforced. As in *Pike* and *Helard*, the Court of Appeals justly precluded Bitterman from reaping the benefits of a judicial system whose orders he continues to flout and frustrate after being warned that dismissal would follow. There is no conflict between the dismissal here and this Court's decisions or published decisions of the Court of Appeals. Bitterman's petition should be denied.

B. Dismissal of Bitterman's Appeal Does Not Involve a Constitutional Question

Bitterman untenably claims that the trial court's orders constitute "an unlawful infringement upon his and his child's right to travel to, settle and abide in New Mexico." Pet. 25–26.

This argument fundamentally fails because Bitterman's petition seeks review of the appellate court's order dismissing his appeal—the merits of the trial court's underlying visitation orders are not before this Court.

Regardless, the visitation orders do not infringe upon Bitterman's "right to travel from one State to another," as he complains. *Id.* at 25. To the contrary, the visitation orders did not enjoin or otherwise prevent Bitterman from relocating, but simply mandated his compliance with visitation after the grandparents repeatedly represented they would travel at their own expense to Bitterman to facilitate scheduled visitation. App. 403, 483–84. Instead of seeking to modify the visitation orders to take into account his move under RCW 26.11.060(1), Bitterman refused to comply, has since refused to share his and K.B.'s current address, and has thus rendered enforcement impossible. There has been no "infringement" upon his purported constitutional right to travel.

Bitterman's citation to the enforcement order, issued the same day as orders finding him in contempt, did *not* require him to "return [K.B.] to Washington" for all time, as he misleadingly suggests. Pet. 25–26 (citing CP 669–70). Instead, this order related to returning K.B. for three days of *makeup* visitation after the grandparents' offer to fly to wherever K.B. was located for visits was not accepted. CP 669–70; App. 311–12; RP 239–40, 259.

In sum, this case does not involve a "significant question" of constitutional law—or even a trivial question of constitutional law—under RAP 13.4(b)(3). Review should be denied.

C. The Petition Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest

Finally, Bitterman contends that this case involves an "issue of substantial public interest" under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because "(1) the reason for dismissal involved a disputed fact

not developed below" and "(2) the appeal presented meritorious questions." Pet. 27. This argument fails too.

As discussed above, the appeal was not dismissed due to a "disputed fact not developed below." *See supra* Part IV.A.2. Bitterman's appeal was dismissed because he persists in contempt, has refused to comply with the trial court's visitation rulings for over a year, and has secreted himself and K.B. outside the state so that the trial court's orders cannot be enforced.

Further, Bitterman's opinions about the merits of his dismissed appeal do not warrant review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Even if the underlying appeal could have presented meritorious issues as Bitterman claims, that would not give him carte blanche to disobey trial court orders he never even attempted to supersede or stay and obstruct enforcement, risking serious harm to K.B.

While Bitterman's purported "meritorious" issues might have been relevant to staying or superseding trial court orders,

RAP 8.1, he never pursued that option, despite having had very experienced appellate counsel before the Court of Appeals and despite responding to arguments faulting him for not doing so. Instead, he elected bald contempt and frustration of enforcement. Nor does this case present, as Bitterman argues, an opportunity to resolve a distinction between sanctions for disobedience versus affirmative acts. Pet. 27. Bitterman did not merely disobey a visitation order. He obstructed enforcement of visitation by secreting K.B. and contemptuously refusing to disclose their location.

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